I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONERS 

Bedreddin I man and Sameer Hatem, pro se appellants below, 

hereby petition for review of the Court of Appeals' decision identified in 

Part II. 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Appellants seek review of the Published Opinion issued by the 

Court of Appeals for Division III in the case of Dawud Ahmad, eta!., v. 

Town of Springdale (December 12, 20 13)(App. A hereto). The Court of 

Appeals denied Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration on February 6, 

2014 (App. B hereto). 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. The lower courts' disregard for the applicability of RLUIPA to the 

issuance of mandamus and prohibition ignores controlling federal 

Constitutional law and State law. 

2. The lower courts' failure to confer standing upon Appellants under 

RLUIPA raises a significant question of Constitutional law, involves an 

issue of substantial public interest and conflicts with decisions of this 

Court. 

3. The lower courts' determination of an adequate remedy at law conflicts 

with decisions of this Court, ignoring the applicability of RLUIPA to 



Appellants' religious land use. 

4. The lower courts' holding Appellants' action frivolous disregards the 

Town's violation of Constitutional law and its consequence for citizens 

seeking relief in State courts from disturbance of religious exercise under 

color of law involves an issue of substantial public interest. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Factual Basis for Action 

In 2009, Appellant Bedreddin Iman ("Iman") found himself 

without funds to procure housing. (CP 14-15 §§ 2-8). Dawud Ahmad 

("Ahmad"), !man's shaikh (muslim teacher) and once chief legal officer of 

Muslim America, found that RCW 19.27.042 gives municipalities 

authority to pass an ordinance exempting buildings "whose character of 

use or occupancy has been changed to provide housing for indigent 

persons" from requirements ofthe State Building Code ("SBC"). (CP 17, 

ln. 3-1 O)(App. C). Consistent with principles of Islamic charity, Muslim 

America's Board of Directors approved !man's residency in a small-scale 

prototype primitive cottage ("the cottage") built for storage and future 

development of similar retreat facilities in the community's wilderness 

acreage. 1 (CP 11 §§5-6). Representing Muslim America, Ahmad 

I The cottage resides on land of which Muslim America is the nominal fee simple 
owner, though it confers rights of equitable use thereof to the entire muslim community. 
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notified Springdale's mayor of Iman's use of the cottage and legislative 

provision for it. In late 2009, when Douglas Buche became mayor, 

Ahmad notified him of the same. In early 2010, Ahmad repeated this 

notice. (CP 12 § 7). The Town took no action. 

On February 9, 20 I 0, Deputy Marshal Paul Murray instructed 

Ahmad to request exemption for the cottage from the Town, which 

Ahmad did. (CP 356-358). In subsequent meetings of the Town 

Council, the Town took official action to prohibit residential use of the 

cottage, ordering Mr. Iman's eviction (CP 12 § 10, 11); threatening to 

"remove" the building and impose fines preparatory to a Notice of 

Infraction (CP 31); issuing a Notice oflnfraction to Muslim America for 

failure to obtain a Town Business License (CP 50); and denying Muslim 

America's request for adoption of an Ordinance in compliance with the 

SBC. (CP 360-363). 

On March 23, 2010, Appellants applied to the Stevens County 

Superior Court with the good faith belief that they had standing in equity 

under 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc, the Religious Land Use and Institutionalized 

Persons Act ("RLUIPA")(App. D), as well as Article I, Section 11 of the 

State Constitution, to seek a writ of mandamus requiring the Town to 

As such, every muslim is part owner of Muslim America.(CP 35 § 4, 6). 
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adopt the least restrictive means of meeting its compelling state interest, 

and a writ of prohibition arresting the Town's disturbance under color of 

law oftheir religious exercise.2 (CP 164-174). Muslim America did not 

join the petition in view of the religious prohibition from demanding 

judgment in a non-muslim court. 

The Town issued a Notice ofViolation (CP 149) and later an 

Notice of Infraction to Sameer Hatem ("Hatem"), Secretary-General of 

Muslim America, for violation of Building Code Ordinance 343C. (CP 

150). After assignment of a judge to the action, the Town withdrew the 

Notice oflnfraction, citing its failure to "state an appeals process." (CP 

151 ). The Town has not re-issued an amended Notice of Infraction stating 

an appeals process. 

B. Proceedings Below 

Following assignment of a visiting judge and the Town's answer 

(CP 70-73 ), Ahmad sought a ruling on jurisdiction, to which the Superior 

Court didn't respond. (CP 139-141). After Appellants filed a notice of 

hearing on the merits of their writ application (CP 83-86), the Town then 

moved to join Muslim America as a necessary party, claiming the cottage 

per se was the subject of the action. (CP I 03, ln. 20-21 ). Ahmad sought a 

2 Hereinafter, "Appellants" refers to Ahmad, Iman and Hatem. 
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ruling on jurisdiction once more during a May 19,2010 Scheduling 

Conference, but the Court denied it after seeking the Town's response and 

accepting its argument that he was "seeking legal advice." (CP 498, 678). 

Though the Superior Court stipulated a transcript of the Conference would 

be made in the event of argument, no such record was made. (CP 650, ln. 

20-23; CP 656, ln. 23-CP 657, ln. 2). Over Appellants' objection to the 

motion on legal and religious grounds (CP 117-124), the Superior Court 

granted it in spite of Muslim America having claimed no interest in the 

action. The Superior Court thereafter disqualified Appellants from 

representing the views of Muslim America in any way. Attorney Robert 

Simeone appeared briefly to file Muslim America's refusal to participate. 

(CP 280-281 ). 

Muslim America took no other action in the suit. 

During the hearing on the merits, the Superior Court briefly 

commented upon Appellants' cause of action, this being the Town's 

unlawful action with respect to their religious land use. (Verbatim Report 

ofProceedings ("VRP") 7/9/10, p. 33, ln. 4-16). Three months later, it 

dismissed the writ applications, stating the Town had not exceeded its 

jurisdiction, Appellants had an adequate remedy at law, and that adoption 

of an Ordinance pursuant to RCW 19.27.042 being discretionary, was 
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therefore not subject to mandamus. (CP 401-404). Appellants directly 

appealed to this Court. Afterward, the Superior Court awarded the Town 

costs and attorneys' fees for frivolous action in the amount of $23,916.66, 

stating that Appellants had no standing to bring their action, Muslim 

America's refusal to participate was fatal to their case and Appellants 

admitted they had an adequate remedy at law. (CP 562-565). The Court 

dismissed as a "curiosity" its earlier recognition of their cause of action. 

(VRP 1/7/11, p. 21, lines 20-25). Appellants amended their appeal to 

include this judgment. Having done nothing to advance the action yet 

burdened with a sizable costs and fees penalty, Muslim America joined 

appeal ofthe frivolous action holding. 

Argument over the admissibility to the appellate record of a 

Narrative Report of Proceedings of the May 19,2010 Scheduling 

Conference ensued in the Superior Court, where all but a brief portion of it 

was stricken. (CP 498, 678). Later, the same matter was adjudicated 

before the commissioner of this Court, where it met a similar fate. 

Ahmad's health worsened in late 2011 and before he was able to begin 

work on an opening brief, he passed away in May 2012. Robert Simeone 

withdrew from the action in June 2012. Having no prior experience as a 

pro se attorney and no professional legal assistance, Iman wrote and 
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submitted Appellants' opening brief in July 2012, convincing attorney 

Jeffry Finer to appear, write and submit an opening brief on behalf of 

Muslim America just shy of the deadline for so doing. Lacking 

knowledge of appellate procedure, Iman did not follow the strictures of 

RAP 1 0.3(g) in assigning error to findings of fact in either order of the 

Superior Court, though the content of Appellants' Opening Brief clearly 

contests most of the order awarding costs. 

In December 2012, this Court transferred the case (originally 

Supreme Court Case# 85417-3) to Division III ofthe Washington State 

Appellate Courts. On December 12, 2013, The Court of Appeals filed its 

Published Opinion, affirming both judgments of the Superior Court, but 

denying the Town's motion for frivolous appeal fees. Judge Korsmo 

dissented from the majority on the issue of trial-level fees against Muslim 

America noting that Muslim America had taken no action to prosecute the 

petitions and had not advanced a frivolous suit. (Appendix A, Dissent). 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

This Court may grant review and consider a Court of Appeals' 

opinion if it involves a significant question of law under the Constitutions 

of the State of Washington or of the United States, if it involves an issue of 

substantial public interest, or if the decision conflicts with other decisions 
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ofthis Court or the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(l)-(4). 

A. The lower courts' disregard for the applicability ofRLUIPA to the 
issuance of mandamus and prohibition ignores controlling federal 
Constitutional law and State law. 

While it affirmed the Superior Court's holdings, the Court of 

Appeals could not call Appellants' "religious and federal based appeal 

arguments ... entirely frivolous." (App. A at.l2). No explanation of this 

holding was provided, though it is a rational one. Under the Supremacy 

Clause of the U.S. Constitution, RLUIPA trumps State law.3 In affirming 

the lower court's judgment per the writs, the Court of Appeals denied 

mandamus holding that the Town's adoption of aspects from RCW 

19.27.042 was discretionary. (App. A at 7, 8)(citing State ex rei. Heavey v. 

Murphy, 138 Wn.2d 800, 805,982 P.2d 611 (1999)). They also denied 

prohibition upon the assertion that the Town had the legal authority to act 

as it did. (App. A at 8). The lower court did not address whether 

RLUIPA's requirements for a least-restrictive approach in fact imposed 

non-discretionary duty as argued by Appellants. 

The Town has a statutory duty to enforce the SBC under RCW 

19.27.050, which reads, "The state building code required by this chapter 

3 Article 6, Clause 2 of the U.S. Constitution reads: "This Constitution, and the Laws 
of the United States which shall be made in pursuance thereof; and all treaties made, 
or which shall be made, under the authority of the United States, shall be the supreme 
law of the land; and the judges in every state shall be bound thereby, anything in the 
Constitution or laws of any state to the contrary notwithstanding." 

8 



shall be enforced by the counties and cities. "4 In seeking to enforce the 

provisions of the International Building Code 2006 ("IBC 2006"), the 

Town demanded Appellants make major structural changes as a condition 

of occupancy, threatening demolition of the cottage for noncompliance 

(CP 31). These changes would have required vacation ofthe cottage 

resident for an indefinite period of time. Additionally, they are 

demonstrably cost-prohibitive to Appellants. 5 Such demands constitute 

more than a mere inconvenience, confronting Appellants with the 

following choices: make the unaffordable modifications and deprive a 

homeless man of his shelter for an indeterminate period of time, stop 

applying a religious land use or suffer burdensome penalties for so doing. 

These demands clearly impose a substantial burden upon Appellants' 

religious land use. 

Still, Appellants wish to work with the Town to ensure it fulfills its 

statutory obligation under RCW 19.27.050. An RCW 19.27.042 ordinance 

is the middle ground by which the Town can meet Appellants halfway, 

each satisfying their own interests. Adoption of this ordinance would 

allow the Town's building inspector to legally determine if the cottage's 

change in character of use meets the requirements of RCW 19.27.042(1) 

4 RCW 19.27.050. (in pertinent part) 
5 Appellants initiated their action informapauperis. 
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(b), which states that "[a]ny code deficiencies to be exempted pose no 

threat to human life, health, or safety." (See Appendix C). The Town has 

never presented a less restrictive means of enforcing the SBC against 

Appellants' religious land use, yet it shows no willingness to reach this 

RLUIPA-compliant solution. Notably, in spite of its statutory duty to 

enforce the SBC, the Town has suspended its enforcement thereof, thereby 

violating it. It also refuses to do so by the least restrictive means as per 

Appellants' religious land use. Consequently, it acts in opposition to 

RLUIPA and RCW 19.27.050. Appellants also presented evidence to the 

lower courts that the Town never legally adopted the SBC, but rather, 

applies the IBC 2006, a model building code not containing the State 

Building Code Council's amendments thereto. (Appellants' Opening Brief 

at 21 ). Neither court reached these arguments. 

No enforcement action on behalf of the Town is necessary to 

recognize the illegality of its actions under controlling State and federal 

law. Mandamus must lie to compel its compliance with respect to 

religious land use and prohibition must issue to prevent it from further 

violating these laws. Review by this Court is necessary to affect such 

judgment.6 

6 On June I 0, 20 I 0, a new RLUIPA-compiiant statutory provision facilitating religious 
organizations' hosting of temporary encampments for the homeless was passed by the 
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B. The Superior Court's denial of Appellants' standing under RLUIPA 
raises a significant question of Constitutional law, involves an issue 
of substantial public interest and conflicts with decisions of this 
Court. 

Both courts made Muslim America's refusal to participate in this 

case dispositive to denial of the requested writs. (CP 564 § 3; App. A at 6). 

However, their application of CR 19 and land use decisions with respect to 

the underlying action raises an important question of Constitutional law, 

one that is also an issue of first impression: 

In a religious land use action, may a Court deny a party standing 

clearly conferred upon him by RLUIPA simply because he is not the fee 

simple owner of the property upon which he applies a religious land use? 

The Court of Appeals didn't reach Appellants' standing argument on 

appeal, citing decisions that apparently precluded it from so doing. (App. 

A at 5)(citing State v. Cardenas, 146 Wn.2d 400, 404-05, 47 P.3d 127, 57 

P.3d 1156 (2002)). Yet this Court has clearly stated that standing is a 

jurisdictional issue that may be raised for the first time on appeal. 

International Association of Firefighters, Loca/1789 v. Spokane Airport, 

146 Wn.2d 207,212 (fn. 3). RAP 2.5(a). 

The Superior Court held that Appellants never had standing to 

State Legislature. This law explicitly allows the use of buildings as part of an 
encampment. (See Appendix E). 
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apply for the writs, though the clear letter of RLUIPA protects individual 

persons applying a religious land use. (See Appendix D). This Court has 

affirmed such protection well before the enactment of RLUIPA, stating 

that "[t]he use, building or conversion of real property for the purpose of 

religious exercise shall be considered to be the religious exercise of the 

person or entity that uses or intends to use the property for that purpose." 

City of Sumner v. First Baptist Church of Sumner, Washington, 97 Wn.2d 

1, 630 P.2d 1358 (1982)(See also App. D, RLUIPA, 42 U.S.C.§ 2000cc-

5(7)(B)). (Emphasis added). Appellants are not merely guests on Muslim 

America's property. Their use thereof is sanctioned by Muslim America as 

affirmed by Mr. Hatem in his affidavit. (CP 35 § 4, 6). Because Appellants 

are applying a religious land use on Muslim America's land, they have 

standing under RLUIPA. 

In the Superior Court, Muslim America claimed no interest in 

Appellants' action. 7 It never contested their religious land use on its 

property. Muslim America's status as a non-profit corporation holding title 

to the property used freely by Appellants was openly admitted by 

Appellants in their affidavits and evidenced by the Town itself. (CP 111-

7 Muslim America's request to the Town for the adoption of an RCW 19.27.042 
ordinance is unlike its participation in a court of this State. (CP 28) Such a request 
does not seek to compel the Town to act, whereas applying for mandamus does. It 
is from the latter that Muslim America is religiously prohibited and Appellants can 
not seek its participation in a State court. 
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116). Determination of this status as a condition of adopting an RCW 

19.27.042 ordinance did not require its joinder and participation in this 

action. Furthermore, the Superior Court subjected Appellants to a 

Hobson's Choice: either summon your religious community into this 

action in violation of your religious convictions or refuse to do this and 

risk deprivation of your religious liberty and place of shelter. 8 The Court 

of Appeals never reached Appellants' religious prohibition argument in 

this matter. 

Under 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc-5(5), a "property interest" in land 

against which government seeks to enforce a land use regulation is 

sufficient to obtain standing and Appellants have met the requirements for 

such interest. (See App. D). RLUIPA imposes no test restricting its 

application solely to fee simple owners of such property. Subjecting 

Appellants' to such a test flies in the face of the Fourteenth Amendment's 

Equal Protection Clause, enforcing a law in a manner that clearly abridges 

their privileges.9 Review by this Court is necessary to establish an 

individual's standing under federal Constitutional law and remove 

8 Appellants chose the latter, which explains their every attempt to describe Muslim 
America's refusal without calling upon it to participate. The Superior Court left 
Appellants with no other means by which to explain their religious convictions in this 
matter. 

9 "No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or 
immunities of citizens of the United States." U.S. Constitution, Amendment XIV, 
Section 1. (in pertinent part) 
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therefrom the burden of property ownership as a requirement for the 

enjoyment of his rights in this respect. 

C. The lower courts' determination of an adequate remedy at law conflicts 
with decisions of this Court and raises a significant question of 
Constitutional law. 

The Superior Court held that Appellants' adequate remedy at law 

would be made available "upon commencement of enforcement 

proceedings by the Town" while the Court of Appeals asserted that 

Appellants' remedy at law "exists." (CP 403 § 4-5; App. A at 9). In light of 

the prima facie circumstances under which Appellants initiated their 

action, neither court exercised proper discretion in determining the 

adequacy of Appellants' remedy at law. On page 24 of their Opening 

Brief, Appellants cited to City of Kirkland v. Ellis, 82 Wn. App. 819, 920 

P.2d 206 (1996), in which this Court has established a criterion for 

determining the adequacy of a remedy at law: 

The question of whether an appeal is an adequate remedy 
depends on whether: (1) the error was so clear that reversal 
would be "unquestioned" if the case were already before the 
Superior Court on a post-judgment appeal; and (2) the 
litigation will terminate once the error is corrected by 
means of interlocutory review. 

Kirkland, supra at 827. In State v. Harris, 2 Wn. App. 272, 469 P.2d 937 

(1970), we find further elaboration of this criterion: 
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We are tempted to announce the rule that the remedy by 
appeal is inadequate whenever it appears inequitable to 
require the litigants to proceed through a lengthy, expensive 
trial which, if the present state of the case were allowed to 
continue, would mean an unquestioned reversal and 
termination of the entire litigation when appealed after the 
trial. 

Harris, supra at 280. (See also Appellants' Reply Brief, p. 7). This Court 

has also differentiated between an available remedy at law and an 

adequate remedy at law, stating "[I]t is the adequacy of the remedy by 

appeal, not its mere existence, which defeats the right to a writ of 

prohibition." State ex rei. Western Canadian Greyhound Lines, Ltd. v. 

Superior Court of King County, 26 Wn.2d 740, 749 (1946). (Emphasis 

added). It has determined that the question as to what constitutes a plain, 

speedy and adequate remedy is dependent upon the facts of each particular 

case. /d. at 748. 

Given their standing under RLUIPA, were Appellants summoned 

to court as a result of the Town's Notice of Violation, the action would be

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