RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Apr 10, 2014, 11:43 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

1-4 No

RECEIVE E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAWUD AHMAD, BEDREDDIN IMAN and SAMEER HATEM,

and

MUSLIM AMERICA, Appellants,

v.

TOWN OF SPRINGDALE, a municipal corporation,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT BEDREDDIN IMAN AND SAMEER HATEM'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

John M. Riley, III Nathan G. Smith Attorneys for the Town of Springdale Witherspoon • Kelley, P.S. 422 West Riverside, Suite 1100 Spokane, WA 99201 Telephone: (509) 624-5265 Facsimile: (509) 458-2728

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

.

Appellants sought a writ of prohibition prohibiting the Town from enforcing the provisions of the State Building Code related to the required components of an occupied building on real property. They sought a writ of mandamus mandating that the Town pass an ordinance exempting said building under RCW 19.27.042.

After Appellants Ahmad and Iman had served their application for writs upon the Town, it appeared and filed an Answer. After it filed its answer, the Town discovered that the subject building was on real property not owned by any Appellant. It was owned by Muslim America. Defendant Town moved for joinder of Muslim America as owner of the real property and the building. The trial court granted this motion by order entered June 15, 2010. (CP 252-253).

The trial court made and entered Findings, Conclusions and Order. (CP 401-405). The Court ruled that the Appellants were not entitled to a writ of prohibition prohibiting the Town from enforcing the State Building Code within the limits of the Town as is mandated by RCW 19.27.031, and RCW 19.27.050. The Court ruled that the Appellants failed to meet the writ of prohibition requirements because they did not show that the Town was acting in excess of its jurisdiction, Appellants failed to show they had no other adequate or speedy remedy at law, and because the true party in interest, Muslim America, had not shown its beneficial interest as it had not filed an affidavit declaring its beneficial interest in support of the request for the writ of prohibition.

With respect to the application for writ of mandamus, the Trial Court ruled that Appellants were not entitled to a writ of mandamus forcing the Town to enact an ordinance exempting the Muslim America property and building from the operation of the State Building Code under RCW 19.27.042. The trial court held that the Appellants had not proven that RCW 19.27.042 was non-discretionary because the statute itself on its face indicates that the exemption is discretionary, or that Appellants did not have an adequate and speedy remedy at law, as they could fully defend any future enforcement action on the basis that it impaired the exercise of religion, and Muslim America, the owner of the land and the building, the only party that can apply to the Town for the exemption under 19.27.042, and the only party who had applied to the Town for the exemption as a non-profit corporation owning the subject structures, had filed no affidavit of beneficial interest in support of the application for writ.

The Town filed a Motion for an Order Awarding Costs and Attorney's Fees for Frivolous Action (CP 406-408). After hearing, the Court ruled in the Town's favor and entered a Judgment and Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Award of Reasonable Expenses Including Fees of Attorney under RCW 4.84.185. (CP 562-566).

The Court concluded that all the writ claims asserted in the case were advanced frivolously and without reasonable cause and were without merit. The Court based this on findings that the plaintiffs did not satisfy the requirements for issuance of a writ of prohibition and a writ of mandamus. Regarding the prohibition writ, the plaintiffs did not support their claim for issuance of a writ of prohibition by rational argument on the law or on the facts that showed that the Town was acting in excess of its jurisdiction because the Town has an absolute statutory obligation to enforce the State Building Code, plaintiffs admitted they had a plain, adequate and speedy remedy at law, and the property and building owner plaintiff Muslim America filed no affidavit of beneficial interest or any other facts to support the application for the writ. Regarding the

mandamus writ, plaintiffs did not support their claim for issuance of a writ of mandamus by any rational argument on the law or on the facts because the exemption authorized under RCW 19.27.042 is clearly discretionary on the face of the statute, plaintiffs admitted they had a plain, adequate and speedy remedy at law, and plaintiff Muslim America, the owner of the land and the building, filed no affidavit of beneficial interest or any other facts supporting the application for the writ. Further, the Court specifically found that the statements of plaintiff Ahmad, in a letter to the Town of Springdale, attached to the Declaration of Mayor Buche, contained an assertion the Town could dismiss the action and end the case. thus admitting that all the pleadings filed in this action were frivolous. (CP 465-471). The court specifically found that statement constituted an admission that the action in its entirety was frivolous and advanced without reasonable cause. The Court awarded the Town \$23,916.66 in fees and costs and awarded them a cost award of \$200 statutory attorney's fees per plaintiff.

Muslim America did not appeal the trial court's final decision regarding the writ claims and is not an appellant as to those claims.

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUES

Respondent in this matter entirely disagrees with the four issues advanced by the Appellants in their Petition for Review. The issues are:

A. Whether the Trial Court property denied the Appellants' requests for writ of prohibition on the basis that the Town was not acting in excess of its jurisdiction, Muslim America filed no affidavit of beneficial interest and the Appellants had a plain, speedy, and adequate remedy at law?

B. Whether the Trial Court properly denied the Appellants' request for a writ of mandamus on the basis that the Town had no affirmative duty to adopt a discretionary amendment to the State Building Code, Muslim America filed no affidavit of beneficial interest, and the Appellants had a plain, speedy and adequate remedy at law?

C. Whether the Trial Court properly granted the Town's motion for an order awarding costs and attorney's fees for frivolous action on the basis that the Appellants' action was advanced without reasonable cause, cannot be supported by any rational argument on the law or the facts and the entire action is frivolous?

IV. ARGUMENT

A. RAP 13.4(b) CONTAINS SPECIFIC STANDARDS AND THE APPELLANTS IN THIS MATTER CANNOT MEET ANY OF THEM.

RAP 13.4(b) states:

(b) **Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review**. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). Appellants fail to specifically cite these subsections of RAP 13.4(b) in support of their argument seeking discretionary review. It appears that the Appellants are proceeding under RAP 13.4(b)(1) (Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court), RAP 13.4(b)(3) (significant question of law under the Constitution of the United States is involved), and RAP 13.4(b)(4) (issue of substantial public interest should be determined by the Supreme Court).

.

.

1. <u>There is no conflict between the decision of the Court of</u> <u>Appeals and a decision of the Supreme Court.</u>

On page 11 of their Petition, in Section V., Subsection B., Appellants assert denial of standing under RLUIPA conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court. They assert this is so because the Supreme Court has held in *Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters, Local 1789 v. Spokane Airport*, 146 Wn.2d 207, 212 (fn. 3), 45 P.3d 18 (2002) that standing is a jurisdictional issue that may be raised for the first time on appeal and the Court of Appeals did not reach the standing argument. This is incorrect. The Court of Appeals said:

Next, regarding standing, a party waives a standing issue by not raising it at trial. *State v. Cardenis*, 146 Wn.2d 400, 404-05, 47 P.3d 127, 57 P.3d 1156 (2002). The individual plaintiffs failed to argue standing below. Moreover, corporations appearing in court must be represented by an attorney; the individual plaintiffs appearing pro se failed to meet this requirement. *Cottringer v. Dep't of Emp. Sec.*, 162 Wn. App. 787, 257 P.3d 667, rev. denied, 173 Wn.2d 1005 (2011).

.

Appendix A to Appellants' Petition for Review, p. 5. There is no conflict between the Decision and prior Supreme Court decisions.

Appellants point out the case *City of Sumner v. First Baptist Church of Sumner, Washington*, 97 Wn.2d 1, 630 P.2d 1358 (1982), and quote from its contents. Respondent has reviewed said case and finds nowhere in it the language Appellants quote. Moreover, *City of Sumner* was decided nearly eighteen years before RLIUPA was adopted. As well, in The *City of Sumner* case, the City of Sumner, unlike here, did enforce the State Building Code. It sought to enjoin the use of a basement of a church building as a school for violation of the City's Building Code and Zoning Ordinance. There is no conflict.

In Section V., Subsection C., Appellants assert that the lower court's determination of an adequate remedy at law conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court. (Petition for Review, page 14). Appellants cite to *City of Kirkland v. Ellis*, 82 Wn. App. 819, 920 P.2d 206, and *State v. Harris*, 2 Wn. App. 272, 469 P.2d 937 (1970), and *State ex rel. Western Canadian Greyhound Lines, Ltd. v. Superior Court of King County*, 26 Wn.2d 740, 175 P.2d 640 (1946). Only the latter is a Supreme Court case and none of said cases conflict with the Decision.

With respect to a plain, speedy or adequate remedy at law, an applicant for a writ is required to identify that there is something in the nature of the action that makes it apparent that the rights of the litigants will not be protected or full redress will not be afforded without the writ. *State ex rel. O'Brien v. Police Court*, 14 Wn.2d 340, 347-48, 128 P.2d 332 (1942). The courts describe the adequacy of a remedy requirement as follows:

.

.

A remedy is **<u>not</u>** inadequate merely because it is attendant with delay, expense, annoyance or even some hardship. There must be something in the nature of the action that makes it apparent that the rights of the litigants will not be protected or full redress will not be afforded without the writ.

City of Kirkland v. Ellis, 82 Wn. App. 819, 827, 920 P.2d 206 (1996) (emphasis added). Furthermore, if an available judicial review path is provided for, a writ of prohibition shall not lie. *City of Moses Lake v. Grant County Boundary Review Board*, 104 Wn. App. 388, 393, 15 P.3d 716 (2001). As the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals properly noted, Appellants' claims could be asserted in defense of an enforcement action. if any, and that is Iman and Hatem's plain, adequate and speedy remedy at law. This was admitted by Mr. Ahmad, speaking for himself and Iman and Hatem at oral argument on July 9, 2010, where he admitted

they had an adequate and speedy remedy at law. (VRP, July 9, 2010, p. 38, ll. 23-25; p. 39, ll. 1-2).

.

-

The Trial Court and the Court of Appeals looked at all applicable cases on the issue of plain, adequate and speedy remedy at law and made their determination. Appellants admit they provided the *Ellis* and *Harris* cases to the Court of Appeals. There is no indication that the determination of the Court of Appeals did not take this law into consideration. Further, *City of Kirkland v. Ellis, State v. Harris* and *State ex rel Western Canadian Greyhound Lines, Ltd. v. Superior Court of King County*, all address whether appeals are adequate remedies. That is not at issue in this case.

As well, in the *Ellis* case, at issue was a district court determination to continue a trial. The Supreme Court held that because the continuance issue arose as a procedural pre-trial issue, and because of the then nature and scope of a trial *de novo*, the Superior Court could not consider the propriety of the continuance. No such facts exist in this case.

There is no conflict with the decisions of this Court.

2. <u>This is not a significant question of law under the</u> <u>Constitution of the State of Washington or of the</u> <u>United States.</u>

This is a case about the Appellants' failure to satisfy the legal requirements for the issuance of a writ of mandamus and a writ of prohibition and whether or not their case was frivolous. Nothing more. This is not the exceptional sort of case to which RAP 13.4(b)(3) applies.

Appellants' attempt to manufacture a significant question of law by claiming this case involves the constitutional right to free exercise of religion. This fails for four reasons. First, Appellants have not been deprived of the right to exercise their religion at all. They have at all times in this case used the shed to house Appellant Iman. Second, as admitted by the Appellants at the hearing in this matter, if the Town issues a notice of infraction of the State Building Code and proceeds with the District Court action to enforce it. Appellants will have an adequate opportunity to present a defense that the enforcement of the State Building Code, if it requires non-use of the building, impairs their constitutional right. Third, the actual owner of the property, Muslim America, did not appeal the Trial Court's writ order and has never declared a beneficial interest. Fourth, only Muslim America can apply for the ordinance available under 19.27.042 as a nonprofit entity.

The standards for the issuance of either of these writs are longestablished and well-developed. This is a garden variety case applying the basic elements for both a writ of prohibition and a writ of mandamus.

Since this case does not in any way, shape or form involve any violation of the Constitutional right to exercise religion, but is rather about

the standards for issuance of the two writs, it does not create any significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States. Appellants' requests under Section V., Subsections A. and B. of their Petition should be denied.

.

Defendants further assert in Subsection C. that the lower court's determination of an adequate remedy at law raises a significant question of constitutional law. The Appellants cite no provision of the state or federal Constitution to support this claim. As well, on page 15 of their Petition for Review, the Appellants state:

Given their standing under RLUIPA, were Appellants summoned to Court as a result of the Town's Notice of Violation, the action would be unquestionably dismissed upon applying the criteria defined in *Kirkland* and *Harris*.

Petition for Review, p. 15, last full paragraph. Thus, while improperly citing to *Kirkland* and *Harris*, Appellants nevertheless admit defense of any action to enforce the State Building Code would be an adequate remedy.

In Section V., Subsection D., Appellants assert that the Trial Court's determination that this action was frivolous disregards the Town's violation of constitutional law. Again, Appellants cite to no state or federal constitutional provision to support their claim. They cite no case law to support this claim. *Habitat Watch v. Skagit County*, 155 Wn.2d 397, 120 P.3d 56 (2005). They appear to argue that there is a constitutional claim because the Court's entry of an order on frivolity, resulting in a judgment against the defendants "serves to diminish the gravitas of constitutional law." They provide no explanation of how or why. They do not show how this is a significant question of law.

3. <u>The petition asserts no issue of substantial public</u> <u>interest that should be determined by the State</u> <u>Supreme Court.</u>

Appellants point to no evidence in the record or information capable of judicial notice which demonstrates their claimed issue, violation of their constitutional right to free exercise of religion, is recurring in nature or impacts a large number of persons. In Section V., subsection A., Petitioners recite the Court of Appeals' decision. They cite concerns that are specific to the Appellants only.¹

The Appellants then assert that they wish to work with the Town. This does not show substantial public interest. It merely confirms the position of the Town that RCW 19.27.042 is discretionary. Appellants assert that they made an argument to the Court that the Town never legally

¹ The Court should not consider and/or strike Appellants argument at: the balance of the first full paragraph on page 9 starting with the sentence, "Additionally, they are demonstrably cost-prohibitive to Appellants, and footnote 5. These arguments were not made in the trial court and are waived on appeal. RAP 2.5; *Marriage of Buecking*, 179 Wn.2d 438, 454-55, _____ P.3d ____ (2013). There is no evidence in the record to support these assertions. RAP 10.4(f). *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992). They are not supported by any citation to the law. *Habitat Watch v. Skagit County*, 155 Wn.2d 397, 120 P.3d 56 (2005).

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